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Describe present and historic physical appearance. 

SOllllARY DESCRIPTION 

Fleetwood Farm is a late eighteenth-century Federal dwelling located on 
Route 621 in Loudoun County, Virginia. Situated on a slightly sloping 
hill, Fleetwood retains much of its original character. An example of a 
substantial side-hall farmhouse, it has a simple but distinctive interior 
that reflects a high quality of local craftsmanship. A stone smokehouse, 
barn and springhouse have survived, adding to the property's 
significance. 

&RCEITECI!URAL ANALYSIS 

Fleetwood Farm is a two-and-a-half story post-and-beam frame dwelling 
with brick nogging on a stone foundation with a full basement. The 
central block, three bays wide, is covered with stucco that covers the 
original weatherboards. Two exterior end chimneys laid in common bond 
are on the west gable end. A one-story wing, also of frame construction 
covered with stucco, extends from the west gable end. On the east gable 
end, a one-and-a-half story addition with a brick exterior end chimney 
laid in stretcher bond was added in 1984. A tin-covered gabled roof with 
cornice and projecting overhang covers the addition. 

The main entrance, on the south elevation, has a one-story entry porch 
with a pediment supported by slender Tuscan columns. To the west of the 
main entrance there is an entrance to the one-story gable end wing. A 
small entry porch was added in 1986. Paneled wooden doors highlighted by 
a transom are located at either end of the hall in the central block. 
The front and back elevations of the central block have nine-over-nine 
double-hung sash windows, with nine-over-six on the second story. The 
west and east gable ends have six-over-six windows that light the garret. 
The addition has six-over-six and the west wing eight-over-eight sash. 
Wooden louvered shutters have been added to the windows. The muntins on 
the central block are thin, with a projecting sill. 

As first constructed, the house had a side-passage plan. Although an 
addition was added in 1984, the floor plan of the late eighteenth century 
core has not been altered. Pine wainscoting, most of which is original, 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Fleetwood Farm, also known as  ree en hill,' is important as an upper- 
middle-class Federal farm dwelling in rural Loudoun County. Appearing 
much as it did in the late eighteenth century, Fleetwood is a good 
example of the houses constructed by wealthy Tidewater planters and 
immigrants from the north settling in western valleys below the Blue 
Ridge Mountains. 

Fleetwood was built in the late eighteenth century by William Ellzey, a 
prominent lawyer and member of Tidewater society. Though the exact date 
of construction is unknown, it is probable that the house was built circa 
1775. While this Federal house form was common throughout eastern 
Virginia, the Georgian interior detailing of Fleetwood is more typical of 
Tidewater colonial architecture. Fleetwood has maintained a considerable 
degree of its architectural integrity and design. 

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

In the 1740s the land on which Fleetwood was to be built was part of 
Fairfax County. This encompassed the area from the mouth of tQe Occoquan 
River to Ashby's Gap, at the southern base of the Blue Ridge. In 1757, 
when Loudoun County was formed, the boundaries were marked as "above 
Difficult Run, which Falls into the Potomac River and by a lien to be rug 
from the head of said run a straight course to the mouth of Rocky Run." 
Before 1700 the topography of Loudoun was not mapped. Indian occupation 
and interest in settling further east were factors which retarded 
exploration. American historian Fredericg Jackson Turner in his thesis 
refers to Loudoun as the I8second frontier.I1 During the late seventeenth 
centuq the Iroquois crossed Goose Creek at the rapids known as Evergreen 
Mills. The southward route they used, Evergreen Mill Road or Route 621, 
was the western limit of European settlement, according to a treaty 
signed in 1684.8 By 1722, however, the Iroquois were restricted in thei~ 
movement south and by 1775 colonists began to move into the region. 
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Verbal Boundary Descr~pt~on 

The property is described as the twelve acre lot at Route !-Box 306A in the Town of Leesburg 
Virginia. The enclosed sketch map (Scale 1"=200'), clearly denoting the building 

on the 

property, is a copy of the plat accompanying the deed (Deed Book 0841, p. 1352) as 
recorded. 
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Boundary Just~flcat~on 

The boundary includes the pare1 that has historically been associated with the property. 
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panels the entry hall. The most striking feature of the hallway is the 
staircase, which rises up the west side of the hall. The wainscoting 
continues up the stair into the second floor hall. The railing has three 
balusters per step, and a square newel. Along the edge of the staircase 
are simply designed scrolled brackets with molded trim underneath. The 
pine flooring and staircase are original to the house. 

Floor-to-ceiling wooden paneling and a Georgian-style mantel dominate the 
parlor on the west side of the side hall. Ghosts of crossettes that are 
similar to those which survive upstairs are visible on the overmantel. 
The mantel has a full architrave frame, a pulvinated frieze and a cornice 
shelf, molded with a dentil band. Paneled cupboard doors are located on 
both sides of the hearth. The original paint in this room was removed in 
the 1930s and the paneling and mantel refinished. In the 1930s the 
hearth was reconstructed and new flooring was laid over the original. 

A dining room, also located west of the side hall, contains raised pine 
wainscoting. The window and floor trim, in addition to the wainscoting, 
is now painted blue-grey. The simple pine mantel, with a wide 
architrave, and original bricks surround the hearth opening. Beyond the 
dining room there is a kitchen in the nineteenth-century gable end wing. 

In the 1984 wing, there are bedrooms on both the first and second 
floors. The decorative woodwork in the first floor bedroom is spare in 
detail. There is, however, a pine chair rail patterned after the 
woodwork in the upstairs dressing room that is adjacent to the master 
bedroom. The mantel is similar to that in the dining room, but a white 
plaster finish borders the hearth opening. The flooring is remilled 
pine. 

On the second floor there are two bedrooms, the master bedroom located 
above the parlor and a smaller one above the dining room. A third 
bedroom in the 1984 addition has dormer windows and walls that are 
painted with whitewash. As in the main parlor the most notable feature 
in the master bedroom is the floor-to-ceiling wood paneling. Ornately 
carved crossettes survive in the overmantel in this room. On the west 
wall, on either side of the mantel, are paneled cupboards. The attic is 
accessible from the second floor hallway through an enclosed stairway. 
The attic is currently being used as a bedroom. 

Throughout its existence Fleetwood has undergone several significant 
changes. The main house, now covered with stucco, was originally covered 
with wide weatherboards. During restoration evidence of brick nogging 
and clapboards were discovered. It is believed that the stucco was added 
and the main entrance was moved from the south side to the east gable end 
in the 1930s or 1940s. Also at this time a porch was added. Windows 
replaced the south/north doors in the hallway. When the current owner 
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purchased the property in 1971 she undertook the laborious task of 
restoring the original entrances. Among the changes she made were the 
removal of the east porch and the building of a new wing. The addition 
has an eighteenth-century appearance. During the removal of the east 
entrance further research revealed the outline of the north/south 
entryways. The current owner opened up the windows and reconstructed the 
entrances. 

The west wing has also changed in appearance. Originally it was 
described on an 1805 insurance policy as a one-story 20' X 15' room with 
a brick exterior end chimney on the west wall. Ghosting on the end wa-11 
suggests that this wing was one-and-a-half stories, probably possessing a 
loft. Careful examination during rewiring uncovered the outline of a 
stairwell in the northwest corner of the utility room. The chimney no 
longer stands, but its foundation remains. Enlarged and modernized in 
the 1930s or 40s, the wing was divided into a utility room and kitchen. 
A shed roof was added to the wing at that time enclosing the entrance to 
the cellar. A small entry porch was built on the south wall in 1986. 
The cornice, which continues along the eaves of the east gable, stops at 
the western end of the house without continuing up the west gable. 

The house and outbuildings are situated on twelve acres bordered on the 
east by Route 621, on the east by Route 621, on the south (front) and 
east by a stream, on the west by a wooded area and meadows and on the 
north by a fence and field. A gravel driveway and brick wall lead to the 
north elevation entrance. The landscape has large mature shade trees 
with boxwoods lining the gravel driveway. 

Fleetwood has three contributing outbuildings. These include a 
smokehouse, a springhouse and barn. There is evidence that at one time a 
small kitchen was located near the smokehouse. Evidence of this fact is 
recorded on an 1805 insurance policy. The kitchen was constructed of 
stone that was taken from the farm. Visible traces of a foundation were 
discovered, but were removed by the current owner in order to plant a 
small garden. The springhouse and smokehouse are constructed of stone. 
One room with a gabled tin roof, the smokehouse has been completely 
restored. The smokehouse is located near the west gable end of the house 
and appears on the 1805 insurance policy. The springhouse is located 
along the western boundaries of the property, and is in need of repair. 
One room deep, rectangular in shape, it has a small frame addition on the 
north side. The barn is located on the north side of the driveway, 
enclosed by a wooden fence. It sits on a stone foundation built into the 
bank. The frame has mortise and tenon joints. The exterior is clad with 
new siding that was added in 1984. The roof is gabled and is clad in 
tin. 
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Part of a stone wheel and the foundations of a structure that was built 
around it were also discovered in the garden. The only other building 
associated with the property is a non-contributing wood-frame rectangular 
structure, built in 1968 as a storage facility. 

NOTES 

Information regarding the restoration of the property was taken from an 
interview with the owner, Mrs. Carol Chamberlin, on 4 October 1988. 
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The southeastern part of the county attracted wealthy men of English 
stock. In 1740 the Reverend Charles Greene of Truro Parish was granted 
1,497 acres no~bh of the Potomac (he referred to it as a "certain tract 
of wasteland8I ) from Thomas Fairfax, sixth baron Fairfax of Cameron, 
who was the proprietor of the Northern Neck. This later became part of 
the original property on which Fleetwood was built. It was not until 
1761 that the property was sold to William Ellzey, a member of Truro 
Parish where the Rev. Greene preached. William Ellzey was a 
businessman as well as a lawyer. Along with other prominent citizens 
such as George Washington and John Mercer, in 1760 William Ellzey 
attempted to promote a wine-producing industry in the county by 
suggesting that "500 Pounds be givyy as a premimum to the person who 
shall in one year, make the best wine." Ellzey, as a member of the 
gentry, was a participant in Loudoun County's pre-Revolutionary 
activities. His signature is recorded on the Resolves for Independence 
that were the result of a public meeting held on June 14, 1774, in 
Loudoun County. In $384 Ellzey owned eighteen slaves, fifteen horses, 
and twenty cattle. He was prominent in other aspects of public life, 
serving as deputy clerk of the court in 1749. Thus as a member of one of 
the wealthier families in the county, Ellzey built his home in the style 
that was popular with men of his standing. He died on February 14, 1796; 
on May 3, 1796, the property was bequeathed to Albert Russell, husband of 
Ann Harris Frances Ellzey. 

Farther west, in the mountainous regions, immigrants of German and Quaker 
descent settled. They brought with them14different cultural traditions 
that included diversified farming. By 1760 the predominant 
agricultural crop was wheat. These new settlers did not have the 
capacity to own large farms and grow tobacco due in large part to the 
topography, the soil, and the fact that tobacco production was labor- 
intensive, requiring slaves. Along the western boundaries of Fairfax 
County this trend is also apparent. The steep terrain made it difficult 
to transport tobacco. In this part of the county tobacco was never 
dominant. At Sully, another plantation-type farm built in Loudoun County 
during the late eighteenth century, evidence of thislghange is reflected 
by the fact that it was not a tobacco-producing farm. At the end of 
the eighteenth century the two factions were at odds. The planter elite, 
desiring more local control, attempted in 1782 to create a new county 
south of Goose Creek. Considerable opposition from the western 
communities, however, defeated their plans. Fleetwood remained $g 
Loudoun County and in the hands of the Ellzey family until 1806. 
Fleetwood is among the few remaining remnants of late eighteenth century 
Tidewater architecture in the southeastern part of Loudoun County. 
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